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AGENDA
8:30 AM
1.

Introductions of Board and Staff

2.

Minutes of the October 24, 2014 Board Meeting

3.

Presentation By:

Henry Jennings
Director

Action Needed:

Amend and/or Approve

Consideration of a Board Policy Covering Acceptable Notification Methods for Commercial
Pesticide Applications under Category 6B to Trails and Sidewalks
At the October 24, 2014 meeting, the Board provisionally adopted amendments to Chapter 28,
Notification Provisions for Outdoor Pesticide Applications. These amendments will require
commercial applicators controlling vegetation on sidewalks or trails under commercial licensing
category 6B to provide notice consistent with Board policy. Since these amendments require
legislative approval, it may be prudent for the Board to adopt the policy prior to the legislative
review process in case there are questions about the Board’s intentions. The Board will review the
staff’s draft and brainstorm ideas about appropriate notification procedures for trails and
sidewalks.

4.

Presentation By:

Henry Jennings
Director

Action Needed:

Review/Approve Draft Policy

Consideration of a Board Policy Covering Acceptable Methods for Commercial Applicators to
Positively Identify the Proper Treatment Site
At the October 24, 2014 meeting, the Board adopted an amendment to Chapter 20 which codifies
a longstanding policy and will require commercial applicators to positively identify the proper
treatment site using methods approved by Board policy. The existing policy needs to be slightly
updated to reflect the fact that the basic requirement is now contained in rule.
Presentation By:

Henry Jennings
Director

Action Needed:

Review/Approve Draft Policy
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5.

Consideration of a Request for Granting Continuing Education Credits for an Online Training
Program
The Board received a request to grant continuing education credits for an online training course
detailing the uses of Turfcide fungicide. Historically, the staff has only approved continuing
education credits for presentations made by pesticide manufacturers and distributors if it includes
a comprehensive review of the precautionary components of the label, such as PPE and reentry
requirements, and environmental hazards. The presentation in question is focused primarily on the
efficacy and uses of the product. Consequently, the staff is seeking Board input on how to best
handle this and similar requests.

6.

Presentation By:

Gary Fish
Manager of Pesticide Programs

Action Needed:

Provide Guidance to Staff on Whether to Grant Credits for Training

Consideration of a Consent Agreement with Servicios Sanchez, Inc., of East Boston,
Massachusetts
On June 3, 1998 the Board amended its Enforcement Protocol to authorize staff to work with the
Attorney General and negotiate consent agreements in advance on matters not involving
substantial threats to the environment or public health. This procedure was designed for cases
where there is no dispute of material facts or law, and the violator admits to the violation and
acknowledges a willingness to pay a fine to resolve the matter. This case involved application of
pesticides inconsistent with the label by a person without a valid certification or applicator’s
license.

7.

Presentation By:

Raymond Connors
Manager of Compliance

Action Needed:

Approve/Disapprove the Consent Agreement Negotiated by Staff

Consideration of a Consent Agreement with Mosquito Squad of Southern Maine of Rye, New
Hampshire
On June 3, 1998 the Board amended its Enforcement Protocol to authorize staff to work with the
Attorney General and negotiate consent agreements in advance on matters not involving
substantial threats to the environment or public health. This procedure was designed for cases
where there is no dispute of material facts or law, and the violator admits to the violation and
acknowledges a willingness to pay a fine to resolve the matter. This case involved commercial
application to property without consent of the owner.

8.

Presentation By:

Raymond Connors
Manager of Compliance

Action Needed:

Approve/Disapprove the Consent Agreement Negotiated by Staff

Consideration of a Consent Agreement with Petro’s Ace Hardware of Auburn, Maine
On June 3, 1998, the Board amended its Enforcement Protocol to authorize staff to work with the
Attorney General and negotiate consent agreements in advance on matters not involving
substantial threats to the environment or public health. This procedure was designed for cases
where there is no dispute of material facts or law, and the violator admits to the violation and
acknowledges a willingness to pay a fine to resolve the matter. This case involved the distribution
of general-use pesticides without a General Use Pesticide Dealer License.
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9.

Presentation By:

Raymond Connors
Manager of Compliance

Action Needed:

Approve/Disapprove the Consent Agreement Negotiated by Staff

Presentation on State Specific Managed Pollinator Protection Plans
The federal Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), in collaboration with other federal agencies,
is developing a series of measures designed to improve protection of pollinators from pesticiderelated risks. One of the proposed measures involves development of state-specific plans for
protecting managed pollinators. The advantage of state plans is that it allows states to tailor
protections to match specific local needs and conditions, while avoiding the potential pitfalls of a
one-size-fits-all standard. The staff will provide an overview of the state-specific protection plans.

10.

Presentation By:

Gary Fish
Manager of Pesticide Programs

Action Needed:

None—Informational Only

Interpretation of CMR 01-026, Chapter 10, Section 2 (P) (2), Definition of Property Open to Use
by the Public
State statutes define pesticide applications made to property open to use by the public as
commercial applications requiring a licensed applicator. Section 2 (P) (2) of Chapter 10 defines
property open to use by public while exempting property “where the public has not been permitted
upon the property at any time within seven days of when the property received a pesticide
application.” This exemption has been used for different outdoor purposes but the most common
use is by land trusts to treat for invasive plants when they post the treated area and indicate the
area (but not the entire “property”) is temporarily closed to the public. The staff has received a
question from a hotel owner who interprets that exemption as applying to hotel rooms provided
that the room is not occupied for seven days following the pesticide application. Because indoor
pesticide applications present unique risks to persons using the indoor space, the staff would like
guidance on how to interpret the Chapter 10 definition.

11.

Presentation By:

Gary Fish
Manager of Pesticide Programs

Action Needed:

Provide Guidance on Interpretation of the Chapter 10 Definition

Formation of an Advisory Committee to Develop Guidelines Related to the Issuance of Variance
Permits for Spraying Railroads Adjacent to Surface Waters
At the May 16, 2014 meeting, the Board granted a one-year variance from Section 6 of Chapter 29
to Asplundh Tree Expert Company—Railroad Division to make broadcast herbicide applications
less than 25 feet from surface water. At that time, the Board also directed the staff to develop
guidelines/criteria for issuance of railroad variances prior to next season. The staff will present
some ideas about forming a small committee to develop draft guidelines for Board consideration.
Presentation By:

Henry Jennings
Director

Action Needed:

Provide Guidance to Staff
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12.

Other Old or New Business
a. Other?

13.

Schedule of Future Meetings
January 14 (Maine Agricultural Trades Show), March 13, April 24, and June 5, 2015 are tentative
Board meeting dates. The Board will decide whether to change and/or add dates.
Action Needed:

14.

Adjustments and/or Additional Dates?

Adjourn

NOTES
The Board Meeting Agenda and most supporting documents are posted one week before the
meeting on the Board website at www.thinkfirstspraylast.org.
Any person wishing to receive notices and agendas for meetings of the Board, Medical Advisory
Committee, or Environmental Risk Advisory Committee must submit a request in writing to the
Board’s office. Any person with technical expertise who would like to volunteer for service on
either committee is invited to submit their resume for future consideration.
On November 16, 2007, the Board adopted the following policy for submission and distribution of
comments and information when conducting routine business (product registration, variances,
enforcement actions, etc.):
o For regular, non-rulemaking business, the Board will accept pesticide-related letters,
reports, and articles. Reports and articles must be from peer-reviewed journals. E-mail,
hard copy, or fax should be sent to the attention of Anne Chamberlain, at the Board’s
office or anne.chamberlain@maine.gov. In order for the Board to receive this information
in time for distribution and consideration at its next meeting, all communications must be
received by 8:00 AM, three days prior to the Board meeting date (e.g., if the meeting is on a
Friday, the deadline would be Tuesday at 8:00 AM). Any information received after the
deadline will be held over for the next meeting.
During rulemaking, when proposing new or amending old regulations, the Board is subject to the
requirements of the APA (Administrative Procedures Act), and comments must be taken
according to the rules established by the Legislature.
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BOARD OF PESTICIDES CONTROL
October 24, 2014
AMHI Complex, 90 Blossom Lane, Deering Building, Room 319, Augusta, Maine
MINUTES
8:30 AM
Present: Bohlen, Eckert, Flewelling, Granger, Jemison, Morrill, Stevenson
1.

Introductions of Board and Staff
The Board, Staff, and Assistant Attorney General Randlett introduced themselves.
Staff Present: Chamberlain, Connors, Hicks, Jennings, Patterson, Tomlinson

2.

Minutes of the September 12, 2014, Board Meeting
Presentation By:

Henry Jennings
Director

Action Needed:

Amend and/or approve

o Granger/Stevenson: Moved and seconded to approve the August minutes as written.
o In favor: Unanimous
3.

Consideration of Enforcement Action against Daniel Brown of Blue Hill, Maine
In matters involving substantial threats to the environment or the public health, or in which there is
dispute over material facts or law, the Board’s enforcement protocol specifies that the matter be
brought to the attention of the Board. This case involves the purchase and application of a
Restricted Use Pesticide (Gramoxone) by an unlicensed applicator. The staff has been unable to
resolve the violation. The Board’s Enforcement Protocol specifies that such matters should be
placed on the Board’s agenda. Since all similar cases have resulted in a small penalty, the staff is
recommending that the matter be referred to the Office of the Attorney General for enforcement.
Presentation By:

Raymond Connors
Manager of Compliance

Action Needed:

Determine appropriate enforcement response

Connors requested that the Board refer the case to the Attorney General’s office because the
staff had been unable to resolve the case with a consent agreement (CA). He explained that the
US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) provides a grant to the Board, part of which is
PHONE: 207-287-2731
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used to conduct inspections. Restricted Use Pesticide Distributor Inspections involve going to
facilities and verifying that restricted-use pesticides are sold to only licensed applicators. A
review of records during one of these inspections showed a restricted-use pesticide was
purchased by Dan Brown who was not a licensed applicator; there is no record that he has ever
been a licensed applicator. Similar to past cases, a $100 fine was proposed. Brown said he felt
he shouldn’t be held accountable because he did not realize Gramoxone was restricted. In bold
print, on the front panel of the label, it specifies that it is restricted to use by certified
applicators only. Brown wouldn’t agree with the CA, so staff, consistent with the Enforcement
Protocol, is asking the Board to refer the matter to the Attorney General.
Flewelling asked what the Gramoxone was used for. Connors said Brown had acknowledged
purchasing and using it, but didn’t specify what he used it on.
Brown said that it was a one-time use. He said he runs a commercial farm and had not used
Gramoxone before nor since. The pesticide was recommended to him by a friend and he went
to Northeast Ag and bought it. He said he opposes the CA because he didn’t understand what
the words on the bottle meant, having never had a pesticide license. He went into a retail
establishment and purchased it over the counter. He would not have bought if he’d known
there were restrictions.
Jemison asked Brown to describe the use. He said it was used to control a weed in a 100-footby-100-foot garden. He said he is an organic farmer and doesn’t usually use this type of
product.
Flewelling asked Connors if there were any repercussions to Northeast Ag. Connors replied
that there had been a CA negotiated around major pesticide storage and this was rolled into
that. It is part of the dealer’s responsibility to make sure they are only selling restricted use
pesticides to licensed applicators.
Jemison asked if any other products were purchased. Brown said he had purchased two
products. When asked if he was given any instruction, Brown said he followed the instructions
on the bottle. He used a pump sprayer. He asked whether the Board thought it was the proper
course to fine the farmer, who used a pesticide according to label instructions.
A Board member questioned why the farmer’s tax exemption form was included in the packet,
Connors explained that was what Northeast Ag provided to the inspector as proof of pesticide
certification.
In response to questions about whether this was common, Jennings said that in the 1980s there
wasn’t good compliance with the certification requirement. When FIFRA was rewritten in
1972, designating products as restricted to certified applicators was the cornerstone of the
regulatory strategy. In the late 1980s the Board decided that both parties should be held
accountable for compliance with this standard. Historically the staff has been conservative
about fining agricultural producers, being sensitive to the idea that farming is not as lucrative
as it should be; the staff doesn’t want to be the difference between solvency and insolvency.
This is a matter of adhering to a fundamental regulatory principle. The Board has fined both
parties in every instance since the 1980s. There were a couple of cases where the person who
was named on the account did not have a license, but the material was applied by a licensed
applicator. The staff sent a warning letter instead of a CA in those cases. Jennings noted that
the compliance team (Jennings, Randlett, Connors) relies in large part on precedent, fairness,
consistency, and statutory considerations when determining how to respond to violations.
Consequently, consistency is important. If one person is fined, and another is not, it goes in the
minutes, on the website, and the next person can use that as an example. It is critically
important to be fair and consistent.
Randlett remarked that the label is clear that the product is for use only by certified and
licensed applicators; the label violation is clear.
Morrill said that the law is pretty specific; while he sympathizes with Brown’s plight, we all
know we have to read the label. The language is right on the front in bold type, hard to miss.
PAGE 2 OF 11

These pesticides are restricted for a reason. Going back to comments made at the last meeting,
a lot of applicators, especially small farmers and applicators, rely on the dealer. In this case, as
well as other cases we’ve heard, the label is the law. Perhaps more education can prevent this
from happening again.
Brown noted that Connors had handled the case and said the fine was fair. What brought him
to the meeting was Jennings saying that this has been the Board’s policy. Would like to see the
policy changed, maybe just give a warning.
Randlett said the Board’s options were to send it back to staff for further negotiation, or refer
to the Attorney General, in which case they would definitely be looking at penalties, as they
don’t do warning letters.
Granger said that homeowners would have no knowledge of what a restricted-use pesticide is;
this gentleman was not licensed and did not have that understanding. It’s hard to blame people
who aren’t aware; a warning might be a good idea. Going forward, those that use pesticides on
food will have to be licensed, and therefore growers will have an understanding of the
certification requirements. Hopefully this change will reduce the number of similar incidences.
Granger said he likes the idea of a warning; sometimes we hold people to a higher standard
than they are trained for. Jennings noted that staff sends a lot of warning letters, but they are
not brought before the Board.
Flewelling said that this was a big problem in the past, especially people buying under other
people’s names; we’ve come a long way. Making mistakes costs money, part of the education.
Bohlen commented that he appreciated Dan Brown coming to the meeting. It cost him more
than $100 to be here. The Board recognizes his time and effort in coming to the meeting.
Tim Hobbs (Maine Potato Board) asked what the fine is for a distributor selling to an
unlicensed person. Connors said that six sales have been made in the last several years. The
minimum penalty was $200, the highest was $1,400; the range is based on the scope of sales.
Hobbs noted that if someone sells alcohol to minors, they risk losing their license; that is a
deterrent. This is a serious issue, dangerous materials getting into the hands of untrained
individuals. He suggests the Board should look at the big picture, independent of this case.
o Morrill/Granger: Moved and seconded to refer back to staff for further
negotiation.
o In Favor: Unanimous
4.

Review and Potential Adoption of Proposed Amendments to Chapters 20, 22, 28, 31, 32, 33 and
41
(Note: No additional public comments may be accepted at this time.)
On July 16, 2014, a Notice of Agency Rulemaking Proposal was published in Maine’s daily
newspapers, opening the comment period on the proposed amendments to Chapters 20, 22, 28, 31,
32, 33 and 41. A public hearing was held on August 8, 2014, at the Deering Building. The Board
reviewed the rulemaking record on September 12, 2014, addressed the comments and provided
direction to the staff on appropriate revisions to the proposals. The Board will now review the
changes to the proposed amendments, the Response to Comments, Basis Statements and the
Statement of Impact on Small Businesses and determine whether it is prepared to adopt the
proposed amendments or whether further refining is warranted.
Presentation by:

Henry Jennings
Director
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Action Needed:

Provide direction to the staff on further refinements or adopt the
amendments

Chapter 20: Jennings pointed out that essentially we are putting a policy that has existed since
2005 into rule. The policy will need to be updated.
o Eckert/Flewelling: Moved and seconded to adopt the rule as amended, the basis
statement, the impact on small business, the summary of comments and responses
for Chapter 20 as written.
o In Favor: Unanimous
Chapter 22: Jennings noted that this exempts certain categories from the requirement to
identify sensitive areas. The original proposal specified that 6A and 6B applications would
need to be conducted consistent with a drift management plan, but at the last meeting the
Board decided that was adequately covered by the totality of Chapter 22 and that paragraph
was eliminated.
Morrill noted that the change was to exempt 6A, 6B, and 7E applications from mapping
sensitive areas; those applications would now be directed toward posting in Chapter 28. The
majority of companies doing 7E applications are posting anyway.
o Eckert/Jemison: Moved and seconded to adopt the rule as amended, the basis
statement, the impact on small business, the summary of comments and responses
for Chapter 22 as written.
o In Favor: Unanimous
Chapter 31: Jennings said that the amendments were to put two policies that exempt certain
applications from the licensing requirements into rule; to allow for a reciprocal license for
aerial applications in emergency situations; and to shorten the waiting period after failing
exams.
Morrill suggested removing “written” from Section 1(E)(V)—Adults applying repellents to
children. Randlett said that he did not think that would constitute a substantial change from
what was proposed. The basis statement would not need to be changed.
o Flewelling/Stevenson: Moved and seconded to remove “written” from Section
1(E)(V)
o In Favor: Unanimous
o Eckert/Jemison: Moved and seconded to adopt the rule as amended, the basis
statement, the impact on small business, the summary of comments and responses
for Chapter 31 as written.
o In Favor: Unanimous
Chapter 32: Jennings reminded the Board that the only amendment to Chapter 32 is to shorten
the waiting period after a person fails an exam.
o Eckert/Jemison: Moved and seconded to adopt the rule as amended, the basis
statement, the impact on small business, the summary of comments and responses
for Chapter 32 as written.
o In Favor: Unanimous
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Chapter 33: Jennings reminded the Board that the only amendment to Chapter 33 is to shorten
the waiting period after a person fails an exam.
o Eckert/Jemison: Moved and seconded to adopt the rule as amended, the basis
statement, the impact on small business, the summary of comments and responses
for Chapter 33 as written.
o In Favor: Unanimous
Chapter 41: Jennings noted that the amendments make any type of applicator’s license
acceptable (previously limited to a private or commercial), removes the requirement for the
distributor to check for a license prior to sale, and removes the prohibition on air-assisted
sprayers.
o Eckert/Jemison: Moved and seconded to adopt the rule as amended, the basis
statement, the impact on small business, the summary of comments and responses
for Chapter 41 as written.
o In Favor: Unanimous
Chapter 28: Morrill asked what constitutes “open to the public.” Jennings said that there is a
robust definition in Chapter 10, which lists shopping malls, retail buildings, etc., but won’t be
helpful in describing a sidewalk or a trail. In general, if the public is invited to use it, it’s
considered open to the public; it doesn’t matter if a fee is charged, such as at a golf course, the
public is still invited.
Morrill said he is hung up on Section 3(A); he is concerned that the rule will be capturing
things we don’t want to capture. Chapter 10 says:
Property open to use by the public includes but is not limited to: shopping
centers, office and store space routinely open to the public (i.e. rest rooms,
self-service areas and display aisles), common areas of apartment buildings,
occupied apartments, public pools and water parks, schools and other
institutional buildings, public roads, organized recreational facilities, golf
courses, campgrounds, parks, parking lots, ornamental and turf areas
around condominiums, apartment buildings, stores malls and retail areas of
greenhouses and nurseries if the public is allowed access before the
pesticide restricted-entry or re-entry interval elapses.
Morrill said he is concerned about owners who provide access to the public, like a land trust,
that they would have to provide notice. Stevenson said he thought that was what they were
trying to capture.
Randlett noted that for the purposes of the rule it’s not necessary to define every circumstance;
that’s the kind of thing that can be determined down the road, or in policy.
Morrill suggested changing it to trails owned by the public.
Jemison noted that the people in Gorham, near the rail trail, wanted to have some notification
when that trail was sprayed. They felt pretty strongly about it. Morrill pointed out that that
situation wouldn’t be covered here anyway as they were spraying the ballast, not the trails. He
is afraid that if we push it too far owners will close the trails.
Jemison said that if the trail in Orono were sprayed for poison ivy, people would want to
know. That’s the intent of why people in Gorham were upset; it should have been posted
because it was a pesticide application on a public trail. It’s not altogether different than a lawn.
It allows the public to make an informed decision about whether to stay out of the treated area
based on the information provided by the sign.
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Eckert pointed out that there are trails formally and routinely open to use by the public and
then there is informal use of the land, often associated with seasonal use of a trail.
Jennings asked whether the Board wanted to limit the notification requirement to hiking trails.
DOT sprayed the rail trail in Augusta for invasive plants and they posted the spots they had
sprayed. That’s the kind of thing where there doesn’t seem to be any objection and there’s a
public benefit.
Flewelling asked about ATV trails. Jennings asked whether it’s primarily hiking or walking
trails that the Board is trying to capture. Is there a way to narrow it down to where we see a
public benefit and where we don’t?
Bohlen agreed that we don’t want to create a significant disincentive to have hiking trails;
posting signs doesn’t seem like a major disincentive, but if people are unclear they might just
close it off. He’s not sure what the solution is. He’s thinking about trails on land trusts, or
owned by the state but managed by land trusts. These are clearly maintained trails of gravel,
etc., but ATV and snowmobile clubs are doing the same kind of thing if they’re doing it right.
Morrill said that if it’s important to the land trust and their members, they will post anyway.
They know there’s a benefit to posting, like DOT, let the public know what they’re doing.
Jennings asked whether the Board wanted to change to public properties. Bohlen pointed out
that most land trusts are corporations, so they are not public property.
Randlett said that would be a significant change from what was originally proposed and would
require restarting the rulemaking process. The rule will have gone from a situation where
applicators are required to provide notice on trails, which would capture those on private land,
to only those on public lands. There are people out there who use trails that might have been
okay with the rule as proposed, but would not be okay with the change, and they might have
commented in a different way. He said he views this as substantial; it changes significantly
what the original amendment was. People with an interest might complain.
Jennings said a new notice would have to be published, and another public hearing scheduled;
we would miss this legislative session, but it’s more important to get it right. Essentially 6A,
6B, and 7E would not have to do anything for a while.
Jemison suggested leaving it as it was proposed. If we run into issues, we can go back and reopen the rule and talk about it. Eckert said she would rather do that and reference the trails
which would be included.
Morrill noted that the original proposal included a newspaper notice requirement. Randlett said
it was okay to get rid of the newspaper requirement because of comments received about it.
Now the amendment states there must be notice in some form; he is okay with that change. It
still requires some kind of notice.
Bohlen suggested dealing with the nuances in policy. Methods could be pretty minimal if
we’re trying to avoid costs on private property.
o Eckert/Jemison: Moved and seconded to delete “methods approved in” from
Section 3(A) and to adopt the rule as amended, the basis statement, the impact on
small business, the summary of comments and responses for Chapter 28 as
written.
o In Favor: Unanimous
5.

Consideration of a Consent Agreement with Province Lake Golf Club of Parsonsfield, Maine
On June 3, 1998, the Board amended its Enforcement Protocol to authorize staff to work with the
Attorney General and negotiate consent agreements in advance on matters not involving
substantial threats to the environment or public health. This procedure was designed for cases
where there is no dispute of material facts or law, and the violator admits to the violation and
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acknowledges a willingness to pay a fine to resolve the matter. This case involved application of
pesticides at the club without a valid certified and licensed applicator.
Presentation By:

Raymond Connors
Manager of Compliance

Action Needed:

Approve/disapprove the consent agreement negotiated by staff

Connors summarized the case. It is an 18-hole golf course, partly in New Hampshire. Matt
Winchell, a former employee, called the BPC office, concerned about pesticide use and
storage. An inspection was done. The inspector met with an employee, who acknowledged that
he had applied an insecticide and was not a licensed applicator. The inspector also met with
Winchell, who conveyed concerns about practices at the course. A CA was drafted. The course
did have a licensed applicator at one time, but he left the course in December 2011. Through
2012 and most of 2013, applications were made without proper licensing. They did have an
employee licensed in New Hampshire, but there is some question about the level of oversight
he provided. The inspector was given a list of applications; each had a fee beside it, which
implies that the applicator was acting as a contractor, not an employee.
A representative from Province Lake Golf Club said that management thought the applicator
was licensed in both Maine and New Hampshire. Connors responded that he had checked the
records and that the person was licensed as a private applicator in Maine, never as a
commercial applicator, so he was not licensed for golf courses.
Morrill noted that Winchell was present and suggested he have five minutes.
Winchell said that they had hired several people who had been golf course superintendents in
Maine, but they weren’t licensed applicators. People doing applications weren’t using PPE.
The storage area was two walls away from where employees eat. There were pesticides from
14 years ago, labels falling off, some leaking. Below the storage area was a storage area for
maintenance parts. He was disappointed in the $400 fine; he thought there would be a big
investigation, people arrested, not a slap on the wrist. Winchell noted that Province Lake
Association closed the lake to swimming; he was not sure why. People could lose their jobs,
the campground could be forced to close. Winchell said it took a lot of work to check all this
information out. Golf course personnel are not being forthcoming with the Association about
what they’re doing. The University of New Hampshire has been doing work at the lake trying
to solve the problem; has the BPC been informed?
Morrill said he appreciated Winchell coming to the meeting. The Board is cognizant of the
environmental concerns.
The representative from the golf course said they are open with the Lake Association. They
don’t want to damage the lake, that’s their livelihood.
Morrill thanked him for coming and hopes the golf course will move in the right direction as
far as licensing and fixing up the storage area.
o Morrill/Granger: Moved and seconded to accept the consent agreement as written
o In Favor: Unanimous
6.

Consideration of a Consent Agreement with Penobscot Cleaning Services Inc. of Brewer, Maine
On June 3, 1998, the Board amended its Enforcement Protocol to authorize staff to work with the
Attorney General and negotiate consent agreements in advance on matters not involving
substantial threats to the environment or public health. This procedure was designed for cases
where there is no dispute of material facts or law, and the violator admits to the violation and
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acknowledges a willingness to pay a fine to resolve the matter. This case involved commercial
application of mold control products with lapsed applicator and firm licenses.
Presentation By:

Raymond Connors
Manager of Compliance

Action Needed:

Approve/disapprove the consent agreement negotiated by staff

Connors summarized the case. He noted that the summary had been revised because the owner
was very candid and upfront, and knows that it is his responsibility as owner of the company
to ensure that applicators have licenses. They mostly do fire and water damage and mold
remediation. They did have a master applicator for many years, but that person left and no one
else got licensed in that capacity. They do now have employees properly licensed and have a
firm license.
o Flewelling/Eckert: Moved and seconded to accept the consent agreement as
written
o In Favor: Unanimous
7.

Review of Board Policy Limiting Continuing Education Video Credits
Current Board Policy limits the number of continuing education credits a certified applicator may
receive from watching videos. Private applicators and commercial operators are limited to two
credits per certification period while three credits are currently permitted for master certification.
However, applicators may receive all of their credits through online courses. Consequently, the
staff determined it was appropriate to review the Board policy.
Presentation By:

Henry Jennings
Director

Action Needed:

Provide guidance to the staff

Jennings explained that the Penobscot Soil and Water Conservation District had produced a
series of videos many years ago which applicators borrowed, viewed, and took a quiz, and then
got credits for it. Originally the Board had said they don’t want applicators to get all their
credits that way and limited it to one-third. The question has been asked why there is a limit on
the number of credits from videos, when online credits are essentially the same.
o Morrill/Eckert: Moved and seconded to allow all credits to be in digital form
Bohlen asked if it should be all but one credit. Eckert replied that the world has changed; she
used to have to get all her credits live, now it’s 100% online, and although she has a lingering
desire to meet with colleagues, younger people do not.
Bohlen noted that when he does things online he doesn’t necessarily pay attention; oftentimes
he’s doing webinars just because it’s required. Morrill noted that the Board doesn’t require
attendance at any specific training event. There are lots of good training opportunities on the
internet. If people aren’t interested in learning, they’re not going to pay attention regardless.
o In favor: Unanimous
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8.

Interpretation of Chapter 27, Section 2(B)(2) Requirements that IPM Coordinators Receive
Comprehensive Training within One Year of Appointment
Chapter 27 of the Board’s rules requires School IPM Coordinators to receive three types of IPM
training: (1) overview, (2) comprehensive and (3) at least one hour of annual continuing education.
The staff has received an inquiry about what the Board intended by way of the “comprehensive
training.” Consequently, the staff is seeking Board input on its interpretation of the requirement.
Presentation By:

Kathy Murray
IPM Specialist

Action Needed:

Provide guidance to the staff

Kathy Murray reminded the Board that, when Chapter 27 was reviewed, one of the
recommendations was required training for IPM Coordinators. The rule also now requires
schools to notify the Board annually of the identity and contact information for the
Coordinator. The initial training has to be taken within one month of first being named IPM
Coordinator; it currently consists of a PowerPoint presentation with embedded questions and a
quiz at the end. The comprehensive training needs to be taken within one year of appointment.
The staff developed a three-hour training and offered it seven times across the state. The third
requirement is one hour of continuing education annually. The staff still needs to decide how
best to provide that. She noted that her records indicate that approximately 25% of schools
have an IPM Coordinator with the comprehensive training; about 15% of schools have
reported the name of the Coordinator. She observed that schools are in constant flux;
consolidating, splitting; the staff is never sure what unit they’re part of.
Morrill noted that the comments received on the training were remarkable; some people
wished it was longer.
Murray said that the Maine School Management Association, which provides an insurance
pool, has about half the schools in the state as members. They do on-site training to help
schools meet compliance and they have offered to do the IPM training, but they feel that three
hours is way too long, it shouldn’t be over an hour. We do cover a lot, go through a label,
some pest identification, walk through how to fill out our forms, whether they need approval,
and do a walk-through at the school. The question for the Board is, what were your
expectations for training, especially comprehensive training? Should we consider shortening
it?
Jennings said that it was difficult to justify making comprehensive training one hour if the
initial training was one hour. Also, some schools have found it very valuable in terms of better
sanitation, exclusion, etc.
Morrill said that it wouldn’t make sense to have to drive somewhere for a one-hour course,
attendees would spend more time driving. Comments indicate that the training is good; he
would not shorten it.
Tim Hobbs noted that when pesticide issues come up, especially around children, it’s serious.
He feels the Board should try to improve the compliance rate. This was a very serious
discussion when it was in front of the Legislature.
Morrill agreed that there was a lot of passion around this issue. We have to try to improve the
buy-in of the schools.
Jennings said that there is a certain reluctance to levy fines against schools because the money
would come out of the classrooms.
Bohlen noted that sending in the name of the Coordinator is pretty simple, takes five minutes.
The fact that it’s not happening is a sign that they’re not paying attention.
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Eckert suggested sending a letter to superintendents: if you’re not in compliance with the
training requirements we’re going to start levying fines.
Katy Green (MOFGA) asked what kind of resources are available to help IPM Coordinators.
She suggested that, instead of fines, the Board should explain what is required and what is
available to help.
Jennings reminded the Board that the staff is requesting a definition of comprehensive
training. Morrill said the proposed outline looks great.
9.

Other Old or New Business
a. Variance Permit to Boyle Associates for control of phragmites
b. Variance Permit to The Lawn Dawg for control of invasive plants
c. Other?
Morrill suggested the Board revisit what is being done with compliance around restricteduse pesticide dealers; it’s not okay that pesticide dealers are selling restricted-use pesticides
to customers without a license.
Flewelling said the bulk of the burden should fall on the dealers; they’re in the business,
they’re the ones who should know the rules.
Stevenson suggested sending a letter to dealers. The letter doesn’t need to be threatening,
just to bring the issue to the forefront. Granger suggested the inspectors make it known that
the Board is concerned and that they should expect increased fines in the future.
o Consensus reached to send a bulletin to dealers saying that there have been
violations, the Board is prepared to increase penalties, and they should make
sure their employees are appropriately trained.
Jennings noted that the Pollinator Protection Conference is scheduled for November 20
and that there has been a lot of interest.

10.

Schedule of Future Meetings
December 5, 2014, and January 14 (Maine Agricultural Trades Show) and March 13, 2015, are
tentative Board meeting dates. The Board will decide whether to change and/or add dates.
Action Needed:

Adjustments and/or additional dates?

o The Board added April 24 and June 5, 2015, as tentative Board meeting dates.
11.

Adjourn
o Morrill/Bohlen: Moved and seconded to adjourn at 11:53 AM
o In favor: Unanimous
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NOTES
The Board Meeting Agenda and most supporting documents are posted one week before the
meeting on the Board website at www.thinkfirstspraylast.org.
Any person wishing to receive notices and agendas for meetings of the Board, Medical Advisory
Committee, or Environmental Risk Advisory Committee must submit a request in writing to the
Board’s office. Any person with technical expertise who would like to volunteer for service on
either committee is invited to submit their resume for future consideration.
On November 16, 2007, the Board adopted the following policy for submission and distribution of
comments and information when conducting routine business (product registration, variances,
enforcement actions, etc.):
o For regular, non-rulemaking business, the Board will accept pesticide-related letters,
reports, and articles. Reports and articles must be from peer-reviewed journals. E-mail,
hard copy, or fax should be sent to the attention of Anne Chamberlain, at the Board’s
office or anne.chamberlain@maine.gov. In order for the Board to receive this information
in time for distribution and consideration at its next meeting, all communications must be
received by 8:00 AM, three days prior to the Board meeting date (e.g., if the meeting is on a
Friday, the deadline would be Tuesday at 8:00 AM). Any information received after the
deadline will be held over for the next meeting.
During rulemaking, when proposing new or amending old regulations, the Board is subject to the
requirements of the APA (Administrative Procedures Act), and comments must be taken
according to the rules established by the Legislature.
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MAINE BOARD OF PESTICIDES CONTROL
POLICY CONCERNING APPROPRIATE METHODS FOR NOTIFYING
THE PUBLIC ABOUT COMMERCIAL APPLICATIONS TO SIDEWALKS AND TRAILS
AS REQUIRED BY CHAPTER 20
DRAFT, December 5, 2014
At its October 24, 2014 meeting, the Board adopted amendments to Chapter 28, Notification Provisions
for Outdoor Pesticide Applications. The amendments will require commercial applicators to provide
public notice of pesticide applications to trails and sidewalks within category 6B consistent with Board
policy. The Board recognizes that many trails cross private property and use of the trail is based on the
permission of the landowner. The Board does not favor public policies that may discourage landowners
from granting permission to use their property. The Board further recognizes that providing effective
notice of such applications can be challenging and it believes that establishing a flexible approach
allows applicators and landowners to tailor their notification methods to utilize the most practical and
cost effective approach. This policy defines sidewalks and trails in the context of Chapter 28 and this
policy, and lists a series of approved methods that applicators and/or landowners may choose from in
order to provide public notice of pesticide applications to those sites.
Definitions:
1.
Sidewalks – for the purposes of CMR 01-026, Chapter 28 and this policy, the term “sidewalk”
means any paved or otherwise intentionally constructed pedestrian walkway adjacent to public or
private roads.
2.
Trails – for the purposes of CMR 01-026, Chapter 28 and this policy, the term “trails” means
any marked or established passage, path or route, used by the public for passage by foot, bicycle,
recreational vehicle or other similar means, generally for recreational purposes. A trail does not include
public rights-of-way maintained by governmental entities primarily for passage by automobiles and
other vehicles registered for use on public ways.
Appropriate Methods of Notification:
Commercial applicators must provide public notice or cause public notice to be given about pesticide
applications to sidewalks and trails within category 6B by using one or more of the following methods.
Notification should be provided at least 24 hours prior to the pesticide application and should include a
statement indicating that a pesticide application will be made, the product(s) to be applied, the date of
the application, and contact information for further questions.
1.

Posting of signs at relevant kiosks and/or prominent points of egress and ingress. Signs
should be conspicuously positioned with print of sufficient size so as to be readily observed
by the public. Signs shall not be removed by the applicator or landowner for at least 48
hours following the application.

2.

Public notification using websites, list serves or print publications of local or regional
relevance.

3.

Posting of signs, similar to those described in item 1 above, at areas frequented by the public
and in the vicinity of the application site such as commercial, retail and institutional
buildings and other public gathering places.

The Board encourages the development and implementation of other effective methods not described
above.

MAINE BOARD OF PESTICIDES CONTROL
POLICY CONCERNING POSITIVE IDENTIFICATION OF
PROPER TREATMENT SITE BY COMMERCIAL APPLICATORS
Adopted July 29, 2005
At its June 17, 2005 meeting, the Board listened to many concerns from two neighbors at 34 and 38 Bay
Road in Bowdoinham who had come home recently to find that they had received unwanted pesticide
applications that should have been made to residential lawns at 34 and 38 Middlesex Road in Topsham.
They requested that the Board take action to prevent similar incidents from happening to other Maine
citizens. The members observed that the recent number of cases where the wrong property had been
treated by commercial applicators demonstrated the need for action. A motion was approved to direct
the staff to draft a positive identification policy regarding outdoor applications to residential properties.
At its next meeting on July 29, 2005, the Board adopted the following statement as an interim
compliance policy until such time as Chapter 20 may be amended to create a new Section 6 dealing with
this issue.
To ensure that their employees only treat the property of persons who have requested service,
commercial applicators making outdoor treatments to residential properties must develop and implement
a system to positively identify the property of their customers. This system must be used prior to
making any applications. Applicators that contract for multiple applications must update their
information at least annually to confirm the customer still resides in the same location, the identification
is still valid, and the customer still desires service. Applicators are encouraged to use multiple
identification checks. Examples of appropriate positive identification methods include the following:
1.

Obtain the customer’s electric meter number in advance of the treatment, list it on the work
order or invoice and require the applicator to check for that number before initiating the
treatment.

2.

Visit the customer in advance of the treatment, and using a global positioning system (GPS),
identify the coordinates of each property to be treated. Include the coordinates on the work
order or invoice, equip the applicator with a GPS unit and require that employee to check for
those coordinates before initiating any treatment.

3.

Visit the customer in advance of the treatment and take a digital time/date stamped photo of
the home and any distinctive features of the property. Include the photo on the work order
or invoice and require the applicator to carefully check the photo before initiating any
treatment.

4.

Visit the customer in advance of the treatment and attach a company logo or other unique
identifying tag on the property. Include the location of the logo/tag on the work order or
invoice and require the applicator to carefully check for its presence before initiating any
treatment.

The Board encourages the development and implementation of other effective systems not included
above.
Applicators are advised that the Board will seek maximum penalties up to and including license
suspension for incidents where the wrong property is treated and the applicator cannot show that a
positive identification system has been followed.

MAINE BOARD OF PESTICIDES CONTROL
POLICY CONCERNING POSITIVE IDENTIFICATION OF
PROPER TREATMENT SITE BY COMMERCIAL APPLICATORS
AS REQUIRED BY CHAPTER 20
DRAFT, December 5, 2014

At its October 24, 2014 meeting, the Board adopted amendments to Chapter 20 requiring that
“commercial applicators making outdoor treatments to residential properties must implement a system,
based on Board-approved methods, to positively identify the property of their customers.” This policy
lists approved methods of positive identification of the proper treatment site.
To ensure that their employees only treat the property of persons who have requested service,
commercial applicators making outdoor treatments to residential properties must develop and implement
a system to positively identify the property of their customers. This system must be used prior to
making any applications. Applicators that contract for multiple applications must update their
information at least annually to confirm the customer still resides in the same location, the identification
is still valid, and the customer still desires service. Applicators are encouraged to use multiple
identification checks. Examples of appropriate positive identification methods include the following:
1.

Obtain the customer’s electric meter number in advance of the treatment, list it on the work
order or invoice, and require the applicator to check for that number before initiating the
treatment.

2.

Visit the customer in advance of the treatment, and using a global positioning system (GPS),
identify the coordinates of each property to be treated. Include the coordinates on the work
order or invoice, equip the applicator with a GPS unit, and require that employee to check
for those coordinates before initiating any treatment.

3.

Visit the customer in advance of the treatment and take a digital time/date stamped photo of
the home and any distinctive features of the property. Include the photo on the work order
or invoice and require the applicator to carefully check the photo before initiating any
treatment.

4.

Visit the customer in advance of the treatment and attach a company logo or other unique
identifying tag on the property. Include the location of the logo/tag on the work order or
invoice and require the applicator to carefully check for its presence before initiating any
treatment.

The Board encourages the development and implementation of other effective systems not included
above.
Applicators are advised that the Board will seek maximum penalties, up to and including license
suspension, for incidents where the wrong property is treated and the applicator cannot show that a
positive identification system has been followed.

Proposed Administrative Consent Agreement
Background Summary
Subject: Jose Sanchez
Servicios Sanchez, Inc.
257 Chelsea Street
East Boston, MA 02128

Date of Incident(s): September 21, 2013
Background Narrative: On October 2, 2013, the BPC received a call from a tenant at 56 Emery Street,
Apartment B, in Sanford. The tenant’s apartment was the upstairs rental unit of a two unit apartment
house. The building had a bed bug infestation. The tenant said the building owner, Dennis Murphy, hired
Servicios Sanchez, Inc. to treat the two apartments. The tenant prepared her apartment as directed on a
form letter from Servicios Sanchez, including putting her family’s clothing, toiletries, toys etc. into plastic
bags the company was to provide. There were further instructions on the form letter to not close the plastic
bags.
The tenant prepared her apartment as directed and on September 21, 2013, she and her children left the
apartment just prior to the application. When the tenant and her family returned later in the day, she found
puddles on the bathroom and living room floors. The items she placed in plastic bags; cloths, toiletries and
food had residues on them. The tenant called the Board because she did not think the application was done
right and the applicators may not have been licensed.
On October 11, 2013, a Board inspector met with the tenant and collected the following samples:
Liquid from the bathroom heat register the tenant placed in a jar on 9/23/13
Wipe sample from lower kitchen cabinet
Wipe sample from bathroom heat register
Wipe sample from inside clothing bags
A Board inspector later phoned, Murphy. Murphy said he hired Jose Sanchez Sr. and Jose Sanchez Jr. to
make the pesticide application. Jose Sanchez then provided information about the application to Board
staff. Later, a lawyer involved in the process for Murphy/Sanchez, provided information about the
pesticide applied that was inconsistent with Sanchez’s earlier statements. Lab results for all samples
collected were positive for several insecticides including malathion.
In early October of 2013, Murphy sold the two-unit apartment building to Paula Hamilton who also
moved into Apartment A, on the first floor. At the time of the sale, Murphy did not disclose information
about the infestation or treatments to Hamilton. Hamilton later learned about the infestation and pesticide
applications from the tenant in Apartment B. Hamilton called the Board on December 16, 2013, and asked
that her unit be tested for pesticide residues. A wipe sample was taken and lab results were positive for the
same insecticides found in Apartment B, including malathion.

Summary of Violation(s):
22 M.R.S.A. § 1471- D(1)(A): That commercial pesticide applications may only be conducted by
certified commercial applicators.
CMR 01-026 Chapter 31 Section 1(A)III: Any commercial applicator must be either be licensed or
supervised by a licensed commercial applicator.
CMR 01-026 Chapter 20 Section 1(B): The use of registered pesticides for other than registered
uses…
7 U.S.C. § 136j (a)(2)(G): To use any registered pesticide in a manner inconsistent
with its labeling.
7 M.R.S.A. § 606 (2)(B): Use or cause to be used any pesticide in a manner inconsistent with its
labeling….
22 M.R.S. § 1471-D(8)(F): Has made a pesticide recommendation, use or application, or has
supervised such use or application, inconsistent with the labelling….
22 M.R.S. § 1471-D (8)(C): Used or supervised the use of pesticides applied in a careless,
negligent or faulty manner or in a manner which is potentially harmful to the public health, safety
or welfare or the environment.
Rationale for Settlement: The individuals in this case made an unlicensed commercial pesticide
application in a careless way, with the potential to impact the occupants of the two-unit building.
Malathion is not registered for indoor use.
Attachments: Proposed Consent Agreement

STATE OF MAINE
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, CONSERVATION AND FORESTRY
BOARD OF PESTICIDES CONTROL

Jose Sanchez
Servicios Sanchez, Inc.
257 Chelsea Street
East Boston, MA 02108

)
)
)
)

ADMINISTRATIVE CONSENT AGREEMENT
AND
FINDINGS OF FACT

This Agreement, by and between Servicios Sanchez, Inc. (hereinafter called the "Company") and the State of
Maine Board of Pesticides Control (hereinafter called the "Board"), is entered into pursuant to 22 M.R.S.
§1471-M (2)(D) and in accordance with the Enforcement Protocol amended by the Board on June 3, 1998.
The parties to this Agreement agree as follows:
1. That the Company is in the business of applying pesticides including indoor applications to control bed bugs.
2. That on October 2, 2013, the Board received a call from a tenant at 56 Emery Street, Apartment B, in
Sanford. The tenant said that the landlord, Dennis Murphy contracted with Jose Sanchez (Servicios Sanchez,
Inc.) and a bed bug pesticide application was made to her apartment and the vacant Apartment A downstairs
on September 21, 2013.
3. That the tenant said that she and her four children vacated the apartment so the application could be made.
When they returned, there were puddles in the bathroom and kitchen. The tenant collected a sample from the
puddle in the bathroom. She further stated their clothes, toiletries, and food which were in contractor bags,
had pesticide residue on them when she reached into the bags to get them. She did not think the application
was done correctly and that the applicators may not have been licensed.
4. That a third party reported to the tenant that they saw two trucks and two applicators at the apartment
building carrying canisters on the date of the application.
5. That the tenant stated that she asked both the applicator and the landlord for information on the pesticides
that were applied. The tenant stated that neither provided that information.
6. That on October 3, 2013, Board staff phoned Jose Sanchez Jr. Sanchez said he was on the road at the time of
the call and that he applied Hot Shot in liquid form mixed with water and applied with backpack sprayers. He
agreed to fax the paper work for the job within the next several days.
7. That on Friday, October 4, 2013, Attorney Cynthia Snow, counsel for Murphy, emailed Assistant Attorney
General Mark Randlett an attachment of an MSDS for Cyonara 9.7, an insecticide applied by the Company
as described in paragraph two. The body of the email message stated in part that this exterminator does all of
Murphy’s extermination work including work in Massachusetts.
8. That on October 8, 2013, Board staff called Attorney Snow about this case. Attorney Snow said she had all
the applicator’s paper work for the application described in paragraph two including notices and she agreed
to email them to the Board within the next several days. She agreed to contact Sanchez and arrange for him
to meet with a Board inspector at the 56 Emery Street apartment on Friday, October 11, 2013.
9. That during the phone call described in paragraph eight, Attorney Snow said that her client, Dennis Murphy,
sold the apartment building at 56 Emery Street and the closing date of the sale was Friday, October 4, 2013.
For this reason, according to Attorney Snow, Murphy no longer had any authority to be on that property.
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10. That within minutes after the phone call to Attorney Snow described in paragraph eight, Murphy called
Board staff and said that the 56 Emery Street case is closed, he provided all the information the Board needed
through his lawyer and that neither he nor Sanchez were coming to Maine to discuss the case.
11. That Attorney Snow never sent the Board the pesticide application records and related documentation that
she had in her possession for the pesticide application described in paragraph two.
12. That in response to the information the Board received in paragraphs two through four, a Board inspector
conducted a follow up inspection with the Apartment B tenant on October 11, 2013.
13. That during the inspection described in paragraph twelve the Board inspector collected the following samples
from Apartment B at 56 Emery Street in Sanford:
131011BCB01A- Liquid sample taken from bathroom heater register
131011BCB01B- Jar used to collect sample 131011BCB01A
131011BCB01C- Wipe sample from lower kitchen cabinet
131011BCB01D- Wipe sample from bathroom heat register
131011BCB01E- Wipe sample taken from inside clothing bags
131011BCB01F- Photographs of treated areas inside apartment
14. That on October 16, 2013, samples 131011BCB01A, 131011BCB01C, 131011BCB01D and 131011BCB01E
were sent to a lab for analyses.
15. That laboratory analysis of the samples described in paragraph fourteen indicate residues were present of
malathion with a detection range of 17-500 ug/sample, and Lambda cyhalothrin 2.1- 52 ug/wipe. Sample
131011BCB01D was also positive for cis- Permethrin at 0.34 ug/wipe and trans-Permethrin at 0.79 ug/wipe.
16. That on December 16, 2013, Paula Hamilton, the new owner of the apartment building at 56 Emery Street
called the Board. Hamilton said that she purchased the building in early October of 2013 and moved in to the
downstairs apartment in late October of the same year. The prior owner did not disclose to her that there was
a bed bug problem and an exterminator made a pesticide application. Based on what her tenant in the upstairs
apartment told her (same tenant that previous owner had), she was concerned about pesticide residues in her
apartment. The new owner said her cat had been vomiting.
17. That based on the call described in paragraph sixteen, a Board inspector completed an inspection with Paula
Hamilton at 56 Emery Street, Apartment A on January 24, 2014.
18. That during the inspection described in paragraph seventeen, the inspector collected a wipe sample (#
140124EPM01A) in the living room of Apartment A from the baseboard heating unit and wall area and
where the couch from the previous tenant had been located.
19. That the sample described in paragraph eighteen was sent to a lab for analysis. The results were positive for
malathion 930 ug/wipe, Lambda cyhalothrin 6.5 ug/wipe, cis- Permethrin 6.9 ug/wipe, trans-Permethrin at 12
ug/wipe and Cyhalothrin, total 11 ug/wipe.
20. That any person making a pesticide application in Maine that is a custom application, as defined under 22
M.R.S. § 1471-C(5-A), must be a certified commercial applicator or under the direct supervision of a
certified applicator in accordance with 22 M.R.S. § 1471-D(1)(A) and CMR 01-026 Chapter 31 Section
1(A)III.
21. That a custom application is defined in 22 M.R.S. § 1471-C(5-A) as any application of any pesticide under
contract or for which compensation is received or any application of a pesticide to a property open to use by
the public.
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22. That the pesticide applications made to 56 Emery Street, Apartments A and B described in paragraph two
above constitute custom applications under 22 M.R.S. § 1471-C(5-A) and, therefore, a commercial
applicator’s license was required for the application.
23. That no one from the Company had a Maine commercial pesticide applicator’s license at the time of the
pesticide application described in paragraph two.
24. That the facts described in paragraphs one through twenty-three, show that the Company applied pesticides to
Apartments A and B at 56 Emery Street in Sanford, Maine, without a Maine commercial applicator’s license,
in violation of 22 M.R.S. § 1471-D(1)(A) and CMR 01-026 Chapter 31 Section 1(A)III.
25. That CMR 01-026 Chapter 20 Section 1(B) prohibits the use of registered pesticides for other than registered
uses and 7 U.S.C. § 136j (a)(2)(G), 7 M.R.S. § 606 (2)(B) and 22 M.R.S. § 1471-D(8)(F) prohibit the use of a
pesticide inconsistent with its label.
26. That of the 26 pesticide products containing malathion registered in Maine as of 2013 on the National
Pesticide Retrieval System (Purdue University, 2014), none have domestic dwellings (indoor), apartment
buildings (indoor), and cabins (indoor) or homes (indoor) listed as treatment sites on their labels.
27. That the facts described in paragraphs one through twenty-six show that the Company applied a pesticide
containing malathion inside a home in violation of CMR 01-026 Chapter 20 Section 1(B), 7 U.S.C. § 136j
(a)(2)(G), 7 M.R.S.A. § 606 (2)(B) and 22 M.R.S. § 1471-D(8)(F).
28. That the WARNING section of the Cyonara 9.7 insecticide label states in part, “Avoid contact with skin,
eyes or clothing”.
29. That 22 M.R.S. § 1471-D (8)(C) establishes that it is a violation for an individual to have used or supervised
the use of pesticides applied in a careless, negligent or faulty manner or in a manner which is potentially
harmful to the public health, safety or welfare or the environment.
30. That instructions regarding the pending pesticide application described in paragraph two provided to the
tenant in Apartment B by Murphy, stated in part, “Please do remove your clear [sic] clothes from closets and
draws, toiletries and other personal items, like toys, and place them in plastic bags provided by the owner.
Please do not close the plastic bags”.
31. That a wipe sample taken from inside a clothes bags as described in paragraph thirteen tested positive for
Lambda cyhalothrin , the active ingredient in Cyonara 9.7 as described in paragraph fifteen.
32. That the facts described in paragraphs twenty-eight through thirty-one show that Cyonara 9.7 was applied in
a careless, negligent or faulty manner such as to result in contact by the pesticide with clothing belonging to
the tenant of Apartment B in violation of 22 M.R.S. § 1471-D (8)(C).
33. That the Board has regulatory authority over the activities described herein.
34. That the Company expressly waives:
a. Notice of or opportunity for hearing;
b. Any and all further procedural steps before the Board; and
c. The making of any further findings of fact before the Board.
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35. That this Agreement shall not become effective unless and until the Board accepts it.

36. That, in consideration for the release by the Board of the causes of action which the Board has against the
Company resulting from the violations referred to in paragraphs twenty-four, twenty-seven and thirty-two the
Company agrees to pay to the State of Maine the sum of $3,000. (Please make checks payable to Treasurer,
State of Maine.)
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement of four pages.

SERVICIOS SANCHEZ, INC.
By: _________________________________________ Date: ____________________
Type or Print Name: _________________________________
BOARD OF PESTICIDES CONTROL
By: _________________________________________ Date: _____________________
Henry Jennings, Director
APPROVED
By: _________________________________________ Date: _________________
Mark Randlett, Assistant Attorney General
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Proposed Administrative Consent Agreement
Background Summary

Subject: Erik Hanson
Mosquito Squad of Southern Maine
535 Central Road
Rye, NH 06032
Date of Incident(s): July 21, 2014
Background Narrative: On July 21, 2014, the Board received a call from Falmouth resident.
The resident alleged that a Mosquito Squad of Maine applicator came over the property line of
their customer and made a pesticide application to some of her property. The caller was home at
the time of the application and observed this. A Board inspector collected a composite foliage
sample from 5 to 20 feet on to the caller’s property the same day she called the Board. The
inspector met with the applicator on July 23, 2014, and collected labels for the three insecticides
he applied as a tank mix with a powered-backpack sprayer. Lab results were positive for the three
active ingredients in the pesticide tank mix applied.
Summary of Violation(s):
CMR 01-026 Chapter 20 Section 6(D)2 specifies that no person may apply a pesticide to
a property of another unless prior consent for the pesticide application has been
obtained from the owner, manager or legal occupant of that property.
Rationale for Settlement: The staff compared similar cases settled by the Board in the past.
Attachments: Proposed Consent Agreement

STATE OF MAINE
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, FOOD AND RURAL RESOURCES
BOARD OF PESTICIDES CONTROL

In the Matter of:
Erik Hanson
Mosquito Squad of Southern Maine
535 Central Road
Rye, NH 06032

)
)
)
)

ADMINISTRATIVE CONSENT AGREEMENT
AND
FINDINGS OF FACT

This Agreement by and between Mosquito Squad of Southern Maine (hereinafter called the "Company") and
the State of Maine Board of Pesticides Control (hereinafter called the "Board") is entered into pursuant to 22
M.R.S. §1471-M (2)(D) and in accordance with the Enforcement Protocol amended by the Board on June
3,1998.
The parties to this Agreement agree as follows:
1. That the Company provides commercial pesticide application services for compensation.
2. That the Company is a licensed spray contracting firm holding license number SCF 46730 issued by the
Board pursuant to 22 M.R.S. § 1471-D (1)(2).
3. That Benjamin Gerrard (COA 47704) is a licensed commercial applicator with the Company.
4. That on July 21, 2014, the Board received a call from a Falmouth resident who resides at 305 Prime Farm
Road. The caller said that she saw an applicator from the Company apply pesticides approximately twenty
feet beyond the property line of their customer, Scott Bragdon at 404 Prime Farm Road, and spray part of
her property. There is a corner pipe making the property line.
5. That on the same day the call was received, an inspector met with the caller and interviewed her. Based on
the interview and on-site observations, the inspector collected a composite foliage sample five to twenty feet
onto her property (sample number 140721EPM03A).
6. That on July 23, 2014, a Board inspector conducted a follow up inspection with Gerrard. Gerrard
acknowledged he was in the area the caller said she saw him in on her property, but said he did not make an
application there. Gerrard said on July 21, 2014, he did make a mosquito application to Bragdon’s property
using a powered backpack sprayer to apply a tank mix of Cy-Kick, Bifenthrin I/T and Astro insecticides.
7. That during the inspection described in paragraph six, the inspector collected the labeling of the three
pesticides in the tank mix. The labeling listed the following as active ingredients in those pesticides:
cyfluthrin, bifenthrin, and permethrin.
8. That the sample collected on the caller’s property described in paragraph five was sent to a lab for analysis.
The lab result for that sample was positive for bifentrhin at 0.39 ppm, cyfluthrin at 0.51 ppm, cis-permethrin
at 0.55ppm, and trans-permenthrin at 0.68 ppm.
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9. That CMR 01-026 Chapter 20 Section 6(B) specifies that no person may apply a pesticide to a property of
another unless prior consent for the pesticide application has been obtained from the owner, manager or legal
occupant of that property.

10. That the Company did not have the consent of the residents at 305 Prime Farm Road in Falmouth to make
an insecticide application to their property.
11. That the circumstances described in paragraphs one through ten constitute a violation of CMR 01-026
Chapter 20 Section 6(B).
12. That the Board has regulatory authority over the activities described herein.
13. That the Company expressly waives:
a. Notice of or opportunity for hearing;
b. Any and all further procedural steps before the Board; and
c. The making of any further findings of fact before the Board.
14. That this Agreement shall not become effective unless and until the Board accepts it.
15. That in consideration for the release by the Board of the cause of action which the Board has against the
Company resulting from the violation referred to in paragraph eleven, the Company agrees to pay a penalty
to the State of Maine in the sum of $400. (Please make checks payable to Treasurer, State of Maine).

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement of two pages.
MOSQUITO SQUAD OF SOUTHERN MAINE
By: _________________________________________ Date: ___________________________
Type or Print Name: _________________________________
BOARD OF PESTICIDES CONTROL
By: _________________________________________ Date: ___________________________
Henry Jennings, Director

APPROVED:
By: _________________________________________ Date: ___________________________
Mark Randlett, Assistant Attorney General
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Proposed Administrative Consent Agreement
Background Summary

Subject: Petro’s Ace Hardware
965 Minot Avenue
Auburn, Maine 04210
Date of Incident(s): 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014
Background Narrative: Maine statutes require any company that distributes general use
pesticides in Maine to be licensed as a General Use Pesticide Dealer. Petro’s Ace Hardware
distributes general use pesticides at their Auburn store. Through a marketplace inspection it was
determined the store was selling pesticides without a license.
Summary of Violation(s): 22 M.R.S.A. § 1471-W (1) License required. Unless exempted under
Section 5, no person may distribute general use pesticides without a license.
Rationale for Settlement: A principle tenet of state enforcement philosophy is to ensure there is
no economic benefit to non-compliance. Current staff policy to resolve General Use Pesticide
Dealer license violations is to establish a base penalty of $100 plus $20 for each year the
company operated without a license. These are also a subsequent violation within a four year
period.
Attachments: Proposed Administrative Consent Agreement

STATE OF MAINE
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, CONSERVATION, AND FORESTRY
BOARD OF PESTICIDES CONTROL

In the Matter of:
John Petrocelli
Petro’s Ace Hardware
965 Minot Ave
Auburn, Maine 04210

)
)
)
)
)

ADMISTRATIVE CONSENT AGREEMENT
AND
FINDINGS OF FACT

This Agreement, by and between Petro’s Ace Hardware (hereinafter called the "Company") and the State of
Maine Board of Pesticides Control (hereinafter called the "Board"), is entered into pursuant to 22 M.R.S.
§1471-M (2)(D) and in accordance with the Enforcement Protocol amended by the Board on June 3, 1998.
The parties to this Agreement agree as follows:
1. That the Company distributes general use pesticides in Maine.
2. That the distribution of general use pesticides in Maine requires a general use pesticide dealer’s license
pursuant 22 M.R.S. § 1471-W.
3. That the Company held a Maine general use pesticide dealer’s license (GPD 43827) from May 16, 2007,
through December 31, 2007 when it expired.
4. That on April 21, 2010, a Board inspector conducted a routine marketplace inspection at the Company.
5. That from the inspection in paragraph four, it was determined that the Company did not possess a valid
Maine general use pesticide dealer’s license during calendar years 2008, 2009, and part of 2010, and that the
Company distributed pesticides in Maine during this period.
6. That the circumstances described in paragraphs one through five constitute three violations of 22 M.R.S. §
1471-W.
7. That the Company entered into a consent agreement on December 10, 2010, and paid a $160 dollar penalty
for the violations summarized in paragraph six.
8. That on May 23, 2013, a Board inspector conducted another routine marketplace inspection at the Company.
9. That from the inspection in paragraph eight, it was determined that the Company did not possess a valid
Maine general use pesticide dealer’s license during calendar years 2011, 2012, and 2013 and that the
Company distributed pesticides in Maine during this period.
10. That by reviewing the Board’s licensing database, it was also determined that the Company is not licensed to
distribute general use pesticides in 2014.

11. That the circumstances described in paragraphs one, two, and eight through ten constitute multiple
violations of 22 M.R.S. § 1471-W.
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12. That the Company entered into an Administrative Consent Agreement with the Board as summarized in
paragraph seven. Consequently, the violations described in paragraph eleven are subsequent violations
pursuant to 7 M.R.S.A. § 616-A (2)(B).

13. That the Board has regulatory authority over the activities described herein.
14. That the Company expressly waives:
A. Notice of or opportunity for hearing;
B. Any and all further procedural steps before the Board; and
C. The making of any further findings of fact before the Board.
15. That this Agreement shall not become effective unless and until the Board accepts it.
That in consideration for the release by the Board of the cause of action which the Board has against the
Company resulting from the violations referred to in paragraph eleven, the Company agrees to pay a penalty to
the State of Maine in the sum of $200.00. (Please make checks payable to Treasurer, State of Maine).

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement of two pages.
PETRO’S ACE HARDWARE
By: _________________________________________ Date: ___________________________
Type or Print Name: _________________________________ ____________________________
BOARD OF PESTICIDES CONTROL
By: _________________________________________ Date: ___________________________
Henry Jennings, Director

APPROVED:
By: _________________________________________ Date: ___________________________
Mark Randlett, Assistant Attorney General
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STATE OF MAINE
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, CONSERVATION AND FORESTRY
BOARD OF PESTICIDES CONTROL

WALTER E. WHITCOMB
COMMISSIONER

28 STATE HOUSE STATION
AUGUSTA, MAINE 04333-0028

HENRY JENNINGS
DIRECTOR

PAUL R. LEPAGE
GOVERNOR

Memorandum
Date:
To:
From:
Subject:

November 26, 2014
Board
Henry Jennings
Overview of Federal Discussions on State Pollinator Protection Plans

Pollinator decline has emerged as a growing concern in recent years throughout the country and around the
globe. As a result, federal agencies have focused significant resources toward researching the causes of
pollinator decline and to developing policies designed to improve pollinator health and sustainability. On June
20, 2014, the President issued a memorandum directing numerous federal agencies to coordinate and focus
additional resources on improving the health of pollinators and their habitat. As one component of the
developing federal strategy, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has been promoting the concept of
state-specific “Managed Pollinator Protection Plans.” A draft guidance document will be discussed by the EPA
and the State FIFRA Issues Research and Evaluation Group (SFIREG) on December 8 and 9, 2014. The draft
guidance document will be released to the public following that meeting.
Even though the guidance is not yet available for public consumption, a number of the principle components
have been discussed at public meetings—including last week’s Pollinator Health and Safety Conference in
South Portland—which allows states to publicly discuss those components in general terms. The following
bullets represent my understanding of the proposed state-specific pollinator protection plan components:
A robust public participation process that includes all stakeholders, especially beekeepers and pesticide
applicators.
A mechanism for beekeepers and pesticide applicators to effectively communicate about the location of
bee hives and the timing and location of pesticide applications.
A recognition that effective communication and protection of pollinators is shared a responsibility
between pesticide applicators and beekeepers.
A recognition on the part of EPA that many of the most important considerations around pollinator
protection are regional in nature and that allowing states ample flexibility to address pollinator health
will likely be more effective and best serve the public interest.
A handful of states have already developed pollinator protection plans so there are existing models we can use
for guidance. EPA may eventually limit certain pesticide uses to states with pollinator protection plans via label
statements, and it is suggesting that plans ideally be in place by 2015. Consequently, the staff sees potential
benefits to all stakeholders in considering the concept sooner rather than later.

PHONE: 207-287-2731

90 BLOSSOM LANE, DEERING BUILDING
www.maine.gov/acf

www.thinkfirstspraylast.org

Excerpt from CMR 01-026, Chapter 10, Section 2 (P):
P.

"Custom application" means an application of a pesticide:
1.

2.

Under contract or for which compensation is received;
a.

For the purposes of this definition, "under contract" includes: verbal or written
agreements to provide services which include the use of any pesticide; i.e., private or
commercial rental agreements, pest control service agreements, landscape maintenance
agreements, etc.

b.

For purposes of this definition, compensation is deemed to have been received for a
pesticide application where any form of remuneration has been or will be exchanged,
including payment of cash, rent, or other financial consideration, or by the exchange of
goods and/or services. This also includes any agreements where crops grown on rented
land will be sold to the landowner or are otherwise grown for the benefit of the land
owner.

To a property open to use by the public;
a.

For purposes of this definition, property is deemed to be open to use by the public where its
owner, lessee or other lawful occupant operates, maintains or holds the property open or
allows access for routine use by members of the public. Persons are considered to be
members of the public even though they may pay a fee or other compensation in order to
make use of the property or may visit the property for a commercial purpose.

b.

Property open to use by the public includes but is not limited to: shopping centers, office
and store space routinely open to the public (i.e. rest rooms, self-service areas and display
aisles), common areas of apartment buildings, occupied apartments, public pools and
water parks, schools and other institutional buildings, public roads, organized recreational
facilities, golf courses, campgrounds, parks, parking lots, ornamental and turf areas around
condominiums, apartment buildings, stores malls and retail areas of greenhouses and
nurseries if the public is allowed access before the pesticide restricted-entry or re-entry
interval elapses.

c.

Examples of property not open to use by the public include without limitation: farms,
forest lands, and private residential or commercial property which is not routinely
operated or maintained for use by the public or otherwise held open to public use.

d.

Notwithstanding this definition, property shall not be deemed to be open for use by the
public in the following cases:
i.

where the property is devoted primarily to agricultural, forest, ornamental tree or
plant production, but this exception shall not apply to campgrounds, leased
inholdings or roads within such property which are open for use by the public;

ii.

where the public has not been permitted upon the property at any time within
seven days of when the property received a pesticide application;

iii.

forestry rights of way where the property has been closed during the time of
spraying or during the label restricted entry interval or re-entry period, whichever
is greater.

